
  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 
     

 
 
  

October 10, 2024 
OCTOBER 10, 2024 5:34 PM 

Lisa J. Stevenson, Acting General Counsel 
Office of the General Counsel 
Federal Election Commission MUR 8328 
1050 First Street, NE 
Washington, DC  20463 

Re: Complaint Against National Public Radio (NPR)  
for Violations of 11 C.F.R. Section 100.73 

Dear Ms. Stevenson: 

On behalf of Alexander Tomescu, the United States Justice Foundation 

(“USJF”)1, and Policy Issues Institute (“PII”)2, please accept this letter, along with 

the accompanying USJF report entitled “NPR Exposed: Why NPR Fails FEC Press 

Exemption,” as a Complaint against the National Public Radio (“NPR”) corporation 

for violations of 11 C.F.R. Section 100.73.  (52 U.S.C. Section 30109 & 30107; 11 

C.F.R. Section 111.4) 

Throughout the current 2024 general election cycle, and since at least the 

2020 election cycle, NPR and its employees and agents clearly and unmistakably 

engaged in express advocacy in support of the Democratic nominee for the President 

of the United States (initially, President Joe Biden, and later, Vice President Kamala 

Harris) and in opposition to the Republican nominee, former President Donald J. 

1 The United States Justice Foundation (https://usjf.net/) is a nonprofit 501(c)(3) public 
interest, legal action organization that instructs, informs and educates the public on, and 
litigates, significant legal issues confronting America.  USJF publishes studies and 
reports on topical issues and distributes them free of charge to opinion leaders, students 
and the general public. 2 Policy Issues Institute (https://www.policyissuesinstitute.com/) publishes papers, 
newsletters, and websites to collect and disseminate information on public policy and 
media issues. PII’s published materials aim to encourage citizen involvement. PII 
conducts research on American public policy, including energy, education, taxes, crime, 
transportation, and natural resources and provides valuable information to the public on 
the importance of these issues. 
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Trump.  In doing so, NPR failed to meet the Federal Election Commission’s 

standard of a “bona fide news organization.”  

Pursuant to applicable law, specifically 11 C.F.R. Section 100.73, a bona fide 

news organization is entitled to an extremely significant exemption from federal 

campaign spending restrictions. As this Complaint sets forth in detail, NPR 

advocates for the Democratic Presidential nominee and against the Republican 

Presidential nominee in a manner that transgresses the “bona fide news media” 

exemption and instead meets the “express advocacy” standard set forth in 52 U.S.C. 

Section 30101(17) and 11 C.F.R. Section 100.22(b). 

Accordingly, we request that the Commission find reason to believe (2 

U.S.C. Section 437g(a)(2)) that Respondents have violated the Act, conduct an 

investigation to determine the extent of the violations, and take appropriate 

enforcement action to protect the public interest and the integrity of our electoral 

and campaign finance system. 

The Press Exemption from the Federal 
Election Campaign Act’s Definition of “Expenditure” 

The First Amendment’s “Free Press” clause is a recognition of the 

importance that the press plays in the political affairs of our country.  The vital role 

that the press plays in our democracy is affirmed by the press exemption, which 

excludes from the Federal Election Campaign Act’s (the “Act” or “FECA”) 

definition of expenditure “any news story, commentary, or editorial distributed 

through the facilities of any broadcasting station…” (11 C.F.R. Section 100.73). 

However, the press exemption only applies if the news is presented as part of “a 

general pattern of campaign-related news accounts that give reasonably equal 

coverage to all opposing candidates in the circulation or listening area” (Id., at 

Section 100.73(b); emphasis added).  
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NPR is Not a Bona Fide News Organization 

In its coverage of the 2024 presidential election, NPR fails to meet the 

Commission’s definition of a bona fide news organization due to its express 

advocacy in support of the Democratic nominee and its open hostility to former 

President Trump.  Accordingly, the commentary, analysis, and editorializing by 

NPR’s employees and agents should not be subject to the Act’s press exemption. 

Instead, a fair assessment of NPR’s coverage of the Presidential race should be 

treated as an ongoing violation of federal election campaign contribution and 

expenditure restrictions, because NPR’s “reporting” amounts to an illegal, 

undisclosed corporate contribution, initially to the Biden campaign and now to the 

Harris campaign. 

NPR Engages in “Express Advocacy” 

Under 11. C.F.R. Section 100.22(b)(1-2), express advocacy occurs in connection 

with communications which, “when taken as a whole and with limited reference to 

external events, such as the proximity to the election, could only be interpreted by 

a reasonable person as containing advocacy of the election or defeat of one or more 

clearly identified candidate(s) because – 1) The electoral portion of the 

communication is unmistakable, unambiguous and suggestive of only one meaning; 

and 2) Reasonable minds could not differ as to whether it encourages actions to elect 

or defeat one or more clearly identified candidate(s) or encourages some other kind 

of action.” 

It has been apparent over the last several months and years, both before and after 

Vice President Harris became the Democratic nominee, that NPR, and several of its 

employees and agents, were expressly advocating for the election and policies of 

the Democratic nominee and against those of the Republican nominee.  Indeed, it is 

abundantly clear that NPR, through its editorial decisions and the presentation of 

the news by its employees and agents, was unabashedly engaging in express 

advocacy in favor of Biden, and now Harris, NPR demonstrated its failure to meet 
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the Act’s free press exemption for campaign expenditure restrictions through its 

express advocacy against former President Trump. 

Among the examples that support this conclusion, which are discussed in 

considerable detail in the USJF Report, are the following: 

The Democratic Party Exercises Control Over NPR 

The Democratic Party, through its donors, volunteers, and agents, constitutes, 

and exercises control over, a majority of NPR’s Board of Directors, including NPR 

President and CEO Katherine Maher & Foundation Board Chair John McGinn. 

Importantly, the press exemption does not apply to media corporations that are 

controlled by a political party committee, political committee, or candidate. (2 

U.S.C. 431(9)(B)(i); 11 CFR 100.7(b)(2); 100.8(b)(2); FEC Advisory Opinion 

1982-44.)  “Corporate contribution prohibitions would apply with equal force to all 

media corporations unless their activities fall within the specific exemption for any 

news story, commentary, or editorial (USJF Report, at 3 & 9-33.) 

NPR Fails to Operate Like a Typical News Organization 

NPR’s activity surrounding its treatment of former President Trump 

constitutes campaign activity and, as such, requires proper campaign finance 

disclosure. In April 2024, then-NPR employee Uri Berliner, a Peabody Award-

winning journalist who worked at NPR for 25 years, described extreme bias at NPR, 

a failure to abide by journalistic ethical standards, and a political operation to stop 

Donald Trump’s 2024 presidential campaign.  NPR’s actions constitute reportable 

campaign activities as they are not typical journalistic activities, nor are they a 

“legitimate press function.”  (USJF Report, at 3 & 37-38.) 

NPR fails to meet the standard for a press exemption insofar as it does not 

operate like a typical news organization.  NPR hired President and CEO Katherine 

Maher – a former Biden for President campaign volunteer who has made numerous 

federal campaign contributions to Democrat campaigns or political action 
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committees and has been a vocal Trump opponent – even though she had never 

worked in journalism. In 2024, Berliner criticized the hiring of Maher as moving 

NPR in the wrong direction away from ethical journalism.  (USJF Report, at 3 & 

34-36.) 

NPR Fails the Federal Court’s Press Exemption Framework 

In considering the scope of the press exemption, the Commission has relied 

on a two-part framework presented in Reader’s Digest Association v. FEC, 509 F. 

Supp. 1210, 1215 (S.D.N.Y 1981): (1) Whether the press entity is owned or 

controlled by a political party, political committee, or candidate; and (2) Whether 

the press entity is acting as a press entity in conducting the activity at issue (i.e., 

whether the entity is acting in its "legitimate press function").3   It is our contention, 

provided via the evidence set forth herein, and more thoroughly covered in the 

attached USJF report)4 that NPR has failed both parts of this framework, namely 

that it is controlled by the Democratic Party and that it does not act as a press entity 

in covering the candidates for President in the 2024 election cycle. 

“If, for example, on Election Day a partisan newspaper hired an army of 

incognito propaganda distributors to stand on street corners denouncing allegedly 

illegal acts of a candidate and sent sound trucks through the streets blaring the same 

denunciations, all in a manner unrelated to the sale of its newspapers, this activity 

would not come within the press exemption even though it might comply with a 

technical reading of the statutory exemption, being a "news story ... distributed 

through the facilities of ... [a] newspaper." NPR’s activities meet this test. Reader’s 

Digest, Id.  (USJF Report, at 3; 9-33 & 39-43.) 

For added context regarding the conduct of NPR and its employees and 

agents – including its anchors, hosts, contributors, and analysts – please consider 

Judge Silberman’s recent partial dissent in Tah v. Global Witness (2021) 991 F.3d 

231, in which he correctly pointed to the corrosive effects of having major media 

3 FEC Advisory Opinion 2004-07 4 https://usjf.net/2021/02/09/NPRs-systemic-bias-express-advocacy/ 5 
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organizations acting as “virtually Democratic Party broadsheets” and his 

observations that “one-party control of the press and media is a threat to a viable 

democracy” and “the overwhelming uniformity of news bias in the United States 

has an enormous political impact.”5 

This Complaint asserts that NPR is not operating as a bona fide news 

organization, and instead essentially conducts itself as a public relations branch of 

the Democratic Party, actively advocating for the election of clearly identified 

Federal candidates and expressly advocating for the defeat of opposing Federal 

candidates. We believe discovery of documents, such as emails, texts and written 

documents, between NPR, Democratic National Committee personnel, and 

Democratic campaigns such as Biden for President and Harris for President, 

regarding NPR’s planned broadcasts (2 U.S.C. Section 437d) would offer proof of 

this assertion. 

We respectfully ask the Commission to commence an investigation into 

whether NPR should be considered a bona fide news organization protected by the 

press exemption, given its biased coverage in favor of Presidential candidates  Biden 

and Harris, constituting in-kind contributions and expenditures on the candidates’ 

behalf.  We also ask that the Commission freshly consider the broad scope of the 

press exemption as currently understood, insofar as the conduct of the press, we 

contend, has had deleterious effects on the level of civil discourse in our country. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

5https://www.cadc.uscourts.gov/internet/opinions.nsf/C5F7840A6FFFCF6485258 69D004ECAC5/$file/19-7132-1890626.pdf 6 
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